
 

Helping Seniors Age Well through Community, Connections and Support. 
 

Mission: To provide life-enriching experiences to older adults through a broad range of housing and support 

services that reflect the spiritual, social, and cultural values of Jewish tradition. 
 

Vision: To support our main campus and seek related locations that support Jewish and other seniors in their 

quest to age gracefully and stay connected in their communities. 
 

Kavod Senior Life 

Board of Directors 

Agenda 

Monday, April 20, 2019 

5:30pm 
 

  Item Presenter Action 

5:30 pm Welcome, Call to Order, Quorum Determination 

and Agenda Review Rob Friedman 

5:32 pm Consent Agenda  Rob Friedman Approval 

 February 2019 Board Minutes 

 January/February Financials 

 Fiscal Committee Minutes  

 Kavod Senior Housing & Services Board Minutes 

 Resident & Community Services Minutes 

5:35 pm Shalom Park Presentation (Update on  

current services and strategic Plan) Marc Penner Informational 

  Andy Heins 

5:50 pm  Presentation of the 2018 Audit Report 

by Eide Bailey Peggy Jennings, Eide Bailey Approval 

 
6:05 pm Ad Hoc Building/ Fiscal Committees Update Brian Botnick Informational 

  Connell Saltzman 

 Michael Klein 

 Mike Belieu 

6:20 pm Update on Summer Fundraiser Melanie Siegel 

 Molly Zwerdlinger Informational 

6:25 pm President/CEO Report  Michael Klein Informational 

6:35 pm Chairman’s Report Rob Friedman Informational 

6:50pm Announcements Rob Friedman 

 Announcements – upcoming calendar items 

 Next meeting date/time 

6:52 pm Adjournment 

  

NEXT MEETING June 24, 2019 
 



Kavod Senior Life 

Board of Directors 

Board Meeting 

February 25, 2019 

 

Present:   Daniel Bennett, Brian Botnick, Sharon Caulfield, Glenn Cooper, Ondalee Kline, Michelle 

Lueck, Perry Moss, Debbie Reinberg, Melanie Siegel, and Steven Summer.  Via Zoom Conferencing:  

Rachel Cohen, Dr. Kerry Hildreth, Jamie Sarche, Connell Saltzman, and Molly Zwerdlinger.  Staff:  

Michael Klein, Michael Belieu, Tracy Kapaun, and Jennifer Grant.  Guest:  David Fogel 

A quorum being established, Mr. Perry Moss called the meeting to order on the behalf of Mr. Rob 

Friedman who was unable to attend. The Consent Agenda:  approval of the February 25, 2019 Board 

agenda, approval of Board Minutes of December 2018, Committee Reports –November/December 

financials, Fiscal Committee Minutes, Strategic Planning Minutes, and Resident and Community 

Services Minutes (all items were distributed prior to the meeting) were presented for approval. Mr. 

Cooper moved for approval of the Consent Agenda with a second by Mr. Summer.  The motion 

passed. 

Mr. David Fogel, the Kavod Senior Life’s representative to the Jewish Community Relations Council 

(JCRC), provided an update to the board on various state legislative bills the council is monitoring.  

Mr. Fogel invited all Board members to attend the Annual JCRC Luncheon and Lobby Day at the 

State Capital on March 12th.  The JCRC is honoring Noel Ginsburg.   

Ms. Reinberg presented the 2019-2023 Kavod Senior Life Strategic Plan Framework.  She stated that 

each Board member received a copy of the proposed Strategic Plan in the Board packet.  Besides 

reviewing the highlights of the research involved in the plan, Ms. Reinberg presented the four 

strategic goals for the plan: 

1. Continue to improve quality of life for Kavod’s current residents 

2. Continue to explore opportunities for developing moderate-income housing 

3. Serve as a local leader in supporting older adults aging in community as well as the convener 

of local older adult agencies, especially those serving Jewish older adults 

4. Build financial resilience through cost efficiencies and diversifying revenue streams. 

Ms. Reinberg stated since the retreat the committee has moved forward with the following: 

 The Strategic Planning Committee revised the plan’s draft and started to identify appropriate 

metrics for evaluating Kavod’s progress towards attaining its goals.  

 The chairs and staff prepared a public version to share with stakeholders 

 

Going forward, senior staff will begin researching programs opportunities to achieve the new goals.  She 

indicated that by April 30, the staff will have a draft identifying potential programs that pass the strategy 

screen; developed a budget for new funding needs; and form a 12- month action plan for 

implementation.   

The Board added their feedback and  Ms. Reinberg assured the board that the Strategic Planning 

Committee will work closely with the Board and staff to make sure the goals are achievable.  Ms. 

Reinberg moved to accept the strategic plan framework as presented.  Michele Lueck seconded the 

motion.  The motion passed.  



As part of the on-going Board education, Ms. Jennifer Grant and Ms. Tracy Kapaun provided the 

Board with information on the results of the recent Resident Satisfaction Survey for both 

independent living and assistant living.  The survey covered:  customer service, quality of services, 
quality of life, maintenance and facilities, spiritual needs, and demographics.  As in the past the majority 
of the residents, as measured by rating Kavod ‘good’ or ‘excellent’, indicated they were pleased with the 
overall programs and services we deliver. Ms. Grant noted the biggest positive changes in the survey 
categories from previous years for assisted living were improvement in afternoon care partners, 
opportunities in the health and wellness center, the Voice newsletter and residents recommending 
Kavod to family and friends.  Ms. Kapaun noted that for independent living there was marked 
improvement for health and wellness, leasing, life enrichment, and support from the night managers.      
Both Ms. Grant and Ms. Kapaun indicated that all departments involved in the survey have been 
provided the results and data thus allowing the departments to establish department goals and 
responses to the survey data.  They also reviewed areas where scores could be improved and discussed 
how this was being addressed in the coming year.  It was shared that a general overview was provided 
to the residents via Resident Council as well as in the resident newsletter. 

Mr. Botnick presented the Ad-Hoc Building Committee report.  He reported that the committee has 

received the fire suppression report from Jensen Hughes, who recommended our primary focus to 

be have a fully sprinkler fire system in all three buildings.  The staff and the Committee are working 

to finalize pricing for the sprinklers with Pinkard, to understand the scope/cost of the asbestos 

abatement in the West building, and to get the permit from the fire department with the 

understanding that we are an evacuation building.  Staff will need to develop a new 

emergency/evacuation procedures for the residents.  Mr. Botnick advised the Board the plan was to 

remove non-critical items from the scope to keep within the original budget of $11.9m.  It is 

anticipated that the sprinkler and the related abatement will be a significant part of the overall 

budget.  He noted that if the sprinkler system costs are higher or additional work needs to be done 

the team will make additional cuts to the original scope of work.  It was felt that the safety of our 

residents is a high priority.  Once all issues have been resolved a new budget will be presented to 

the Board for review and approval.  He noted that the rest of the construction/remodel is on hold 

until the final scope has been determined.   

Mr. Klein provided the CEO/President’s report by first thanking newest members of the Legacy 

Society and providing them with their membership pins.  He also announced that our Elaine Wolf 

L’Vor D’Vor Award recipients for this year are Perry and Suzie Moss.  The event honoring Mr.  & Mrs. 

Moss will take place on August 15th at the Great Divide Brewery.  Mr. Klein showed a short video of 

our residents’ WII Bowling Team that was shown on the Daily Blast Live which airs on KUSA.  Mr. 

Klein advised that through Rose Community Foundation we received a grant for $68,000 to purchase 

exercise equipment to benefit the nearly 70 percent of their residents with osteoarthritis or 
rheumatoid arthritis.  The grant will also allow us to replace doorknobs with levers throughout our 
apartments as well as for us to purchase 2 new Nu-steps for the Health & Wellness Center. He also 
advised that we received a $31,000 grant from the Sephardic Foundation for our Kavod on the Road 
program.   

 

Since Mr. Friedman was not available for the meeting a Chairman’s report was not presented.   

Meeting adjourned at 6:50pm 



 

 

Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates 
d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 



 

 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Table of Contents 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report .............................................................................................................................. 1 

Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position................................................................................................... 2 

Consolidated Statement of Activities ............................................................................................................... 3 

Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses............................................................................................... 4 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ............................................................................................................ 5 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ..................................................................................................... 6 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Supplementary Information .............................................................................16 

Supplementary Information 

Consolidating Schedule of Financial Position..................................................................................................16 

Consolidating Schedule of Activities ..............................................................................................................18 

 
 
 



 

1 

 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
The Board of Directors 
Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates 
d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Denver, Colorado 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Allied Housing, Inc. and 
Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of 
December 31, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life as of 
December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 
 
Denver, Colorado 
April __, 2019 



 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  2 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2018 

 
 
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5,648,173$      
Accounts receivable 26,066             
Promises to give 80,400             
Investment portfolio 8,002,296        
Tenant security deposits 150,957           
Prepaid expenses and other assets 276,203           
Beneficial interest in assets held by 

Rose Community Foundation 76,866             
Property and equipment, net 9,989,149        

Total assets 24,250,110$    

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 230,272$         
Accrued expenses 224,456           
Tenant security deposits payable 142,549           
Note payable, net of debt issuance costs 8,863,097        

Total liabilities 9,460,374        

Net assets
Without donor restrictions

Discretionary 1,742,950        
Board-designated for improvements 4,958,483        
Partner's equity 6,740,368        
Invested in property and equipment, net

of related debt 1,126,052        

Total net assets without donor restrictions 14,567,853      
With donor restrictions 221,883           

Total net assets 14,789,736      

Total liabilities and net assets 24,250,110$    
 

 



 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  3 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Consolidated Statement of Activities 

Year Ended December 31, 2018 

 
 

Without Donor With Donor 

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Support and Revenue
Net tenant rent revenue 1,540,974$      -$                     1,540,974$      
Tenant assistance payments 5,827,609        -                       5,827,609        
Food service revenue 1,031,930        -                       1,031,930        
Assisted living services 992,665           -                       992,665           
Other elderly care income 24,493             -                       24,493             
Contributions 339,893          



 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  4 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

Management

Program and General Fundraising Total

Salaries, taxes, and benefits 3,633,058$      522,511$         130,343$         4,285,912$      
Building maintenance 1,323,023        41,130             6,855               1,371,008        
Depreciation 1,045,126        32,530             5,422               1,083,078        
Food service 808,117           -                       -                       808,117           
Office costs 59,955             293,751           14,989             368,695           
Interest 382,334           11,845             1,974               396,153           
Professional services 14,059             192,681           27,000             233,740           
Tenant activities 188,405           -                       -                       188,405           
Insurance 170,747           5,309               884                  176,940           
Information technology 20,807             78,026             5,202               104,035           
Advertising and promotion 6,258               56,324             -                       62,582             
Staff training and development -                       33,762             -                       33,762             

7,651,889$      1,267,869$      192,669$         9,112,427$      

 
 
 



 

5 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Year Ended December 31, 2018 

 
 
Operating Activities

Cash received from rentals and services 9,504,853$      
Cash received from contributions 317,705           
Cash received from investment portfolio and other 214,100           
Cash paid to vendors (3,964,648)       
Cash paid to salaries, benefits and taxes (4,285,912)       

Net cash flows from operating activities 1,786,098        

Investing Activities
Release of restricted deposits and funded reserves 440,541           
Interest and dividends reinvested (202,330)          
Purchase of investments (2,249,248)       
Purchase of property and equipment (944,783)          

Net cash flows (used for) investing activities (2,955,820)       

Financing Activities
Payment of debt issuance costs (135,811)          
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 9,000,000        
Principal payments on long-term debt (4,942,892)       

Net cash flows from financing activities 3,921,297        

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,751,575        

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 2,896,598        

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 5,648,173$      

    

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash payments for interest 352,860$         

Noncash investing activity
Increase in property and equipment from accounts payable 199,580$         

 
  



 

6 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

Note 1 -  Principal Business Activity and Significant Accounting Policies 
 
History and Business Activity 

 
Allied Housing, Inc. (“AHI”) and Allied Housing South, Inc. (“AHSI”) were organized in 1968 and 1982, 
respectively, as not-for-profit corporations under the laws of the state of Colorado to develop and operate low 
income housing projects primarily for seniors in Denver, Colorado. These projects are subsidized by U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) programs as noted below. 
 
Allied Jewish Apartments Foundation (“Foundation”) was established in 2006 as a nonprofit corporation under 
the laws of the state of Colorado and is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code to provide support for the mission of AHI and AHSI. Board members of AHI and AHSI comprise 
the majority of the board members of Foundation. 
 
Allied Housing East, LLLP (“East”) was organized in 2011 as a Colorado limited partnership to own and operate 
a 159-unit housing complex, located in Denver, Colorado, under Section 221(d)(3) of the National Housing Act. 
East has entered into a Section 8 rental subsidy contract on the 159 units with HUD that extends until April 2031 
which subsidizes tenant rents. Substantially all of East’s income is derived from the rental of its apartment units 
and its food service program. 
 
Allied Housing West, LLLP (“West”) was organized in 2011 as a Colorado limited partnership to own and 
operate a 142-unit housing complex (including 26 assisted living units and 13 market-rate units), located in 
Denver, Colorado under Section 221(d)(3) of the National Housing Act. West has entered into a Section 8 rental 
subsidy contract on 103 units with HUD that extends until March 2031 which subsidizes tenant rents. West 
provides tenants of the 26 assisted living units with services including three meals a day, medication supervision, 
and overall 24-hour supervision. Substantially all of West’s income is derived from the rental of its apartment 
units and assisted living services. 
 
Allied Housing South, LLLP (“South”) was organized in 2011 as a Colorado limited partnership to own and 
operate a 96-unit housing complex, located in Denver, Colorado, under Section 221(d)(3) of the National Housing 
Act. South has entered in to a Section 8 rental subsidy contract with HUD that extends until August 2031 which 
subsidizes tenant rents. Substantially all of South’s income is derived from the rental of its apartment units. 
 
East operates a food service program which provides one meal a day, six days a week, and charges a fee separate 
of tenant rent. Participation in the program is a requirement of the tenant lease agreement and tenants may opt out 
only with a physician’s approval. Tenants of East, West, and South participate in the food service program. 
 
East, West, and South are each owned 1% by AHI, the general partner, and 99% by AHSI, the limited partner. 
 
During 1986, AHI established Assisted Living (“AL”) and converted twenty-six units from regular rental units at 
West to units associated with AL. The AL program provides the participants with assisted living services 
including three meals a day, medication supervision, bath supervision and overall twenty-four-hour supervision. 
AL is funded primarily by monthly payments from participants. Participants who do not have the financial ability 
to pay these costs are subsidized by Medicaid. 
  
 
 
 
 



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

7 

Reporting Entity and Principles of Consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of AHI, AHSI, East, West, South, and Foundation. 
These entities are consolidated because AHI has control and economic interest in the other entities. These entities 
have common management, attached facilities, and shared employees. All significant intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Unless otherwise noted, these consolidated entities are 
hereinafter referred to as “we”, “us” or “our”. 
 
Adoption of FASB Accounting Standards Update 2016-14 
 

As of January 1, 2018, we adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-14, Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-For-Profit Entities. 
Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements and related notes follow the net asset classification, 
presentation, and disclosure requirements prescribed by the ASU. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
All cash and highly liquid financial instruments with original maturities of three months or less, which are neither 
held for nor restricted by donors for long-term purposes, are considered to be cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Promises to Give 

 
We record unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected within one year at net realizable value. 
Unconditional promises to give expected to be collected in future years are initially recorded at fair value using 
present value techniques incorporating risk-adjusted discount rates designed to reflect the assumptions market 
participants would use in pricing the asset. In subsequent years, amortization of the discount is included in 
contribution revenue in the statement of activities. Allowance for uncollectible promises to give is determined 
based on historical experience, an assessment of economic conditions, and a review of subsequent collections. 
Promises to give are written off when deemed uncollectible. We consider all promises to give to be collectible as 
of December 31, 2018. 
 
Receivables and Credit Policy 

 
Accounts receivable are uncollateralized resident and third-party obligations and, as of December 31, 2018, 
primarily consist of amounts due from Medicaid. The receivables are non-interest bearing. Allowance for 
uncollectible accounts receivable is determined based on historical experience, an assessment of economic 
conditions, and a review of subsequent collections. Accounts receivable are written off when deemed 
uncollectible. We consider all receivables to be collectible as of December 31, 2018.  
 
Tenant Security Deposits 

 
Pursuant to management policy and HUD guidelines, we have set aside funds to repay tenant security 
deposits after lease termination. 



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

8 

Investments 

 

Investment purchases are recorded at cost, or if donated, at fair value on the date of donation. Thereafter, 
investments are reported at their fair values in the statements of financial position. Net investment return/(loss) is 
reported in the statement of activities and consists of interest and dividend income, realized and unrealized capital 
gains and losses, less external and direct internal investment expenses. 
 

Beneficial Interest in Assets Held by Community Foundation 

 

During 1999, the Foundation established a fund that is perpetual in nature (the Fund) under the Rose Community 
Foundation’s (RCF) Endowment Challenge Program and named ourselves as beneficiary. The Foundation granted 
variance power to RCF, which allows RCF to modify any condition or restriction on its distributions for any 
specified charitable purpose or to any specified organization if, in the sole judgment of RCF’s Board of Trustees, 
such restriction or condition becomes unnecessary, incapable of fulfillment, or inconsistent with the charitable 
needs of the community. The fund is held and invested by RCF for our benefit and is reported at fair value in the 
statement of financial position, with distributions and changes in fair value recognized in the statement of 
activities. 
 
Property and Equipment 

 
Property and equipment additions are recorded at cost, or if donated, at fair value on the date of donation. 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:  
 

Buildings and improvements
Equipment, furnishings, and fixtures

Useful Life

Estimated

5-40 years
3-20 years

 
When assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related depreciation are removed from the accounts, 
and any resulting gain or loss is included in the statement of activities. Costs of maintenance and repairs that do 
not improve or extend the useful lives of the respective assets are expensed currently. 
 
We review carrying amounts of long-lived assets whenever events or circumstances indicate that such carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable from the estimated future cash flows expected to result from its use and eventual 
disposition. In cases where undiscounted expected future cash flows are less than the carrying value, an 
impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of assets. 
The factors considered by management in performing this assessment include current operating results, trends and 
prospects, the manner in which the property is used, and the effects of obsolescence, demand, competition, and 
other economic factors. Based on this assessment there was no impairment as of December 31, 2018.  
 

Net Assets 

 
Net assets, revenues, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor- or (certain 
grantor-) imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified and reported as follows: 
 
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Net assets available for use in general operations and not subject to 
donor- (or certain grantor-) imposed restrictions. From this classification, the governing board has designated net 
assets for property improvements.



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

9 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to donor- (or certain grantor-) imposed restrictions. Some 
donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time or other 
events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates 
that resources be maintained in perpetuity. We report contributions restricted by donors as increases in net assets 
without donor restrictions if the restrictions expire (that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends, or purpose 
restriction is accomplished) in the reporting period in which the revenue is recognized. All other donor-restricted 
contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions, depending on the nature of the 
restrictions. When a restriction expires, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without 
donor restrictions and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 
 

Revenue and Revenue Recognition 

 
Tenant Rent Revenue 

 
Housing units are rented under operating lease agreements with terms of one year or less. Rent revenue from 
tenants and rental assistance payments from HUD are recognized in the month in which they are earned rather 
than received. Any rent received prior to the month of occupancy is reported as prepaid rent. Rent revenue is 
recorded net of vacancy loss. Vacancy loss is recorded for any unrented units. 
 
Food Service Revenue 

 

Food service revenue is recognized in the month in which it is earned.  
 

Assisted Living Revenue  

 
Assisted living revenue is reported at management established billing rates for private-pay residents and rates 
established by contract with Medicaid for qualifying residents for those residents electing to receive services. Any 
assisted living revenue received prior to the month of occupancy is reported as prepaid rent. 
 

Contributions 

 
Contributions are recognized when cash, securities or other assets, an unconditional promise to give, or 
notification of a beneficial interest is received. Conditional promises to give are not recognized until the 
conditions on which they depend have been substantially met. 
 

Donated Services and In-Kind Contributions 

 
Volunteers contribute significant amounts of time to our program services, management and general and 
fundraising activities; however, the financial statements do not reflect the value of these contributed services 
because they do not meet recognition criteria prescribed by generally accepted accounting principles. Contributed 
goods are recorded at fair value at the date of donation. We record donated professional services at the respective 
fair values of the services received. No significant contributions of such goods or services were received during 
the year ended December 31, 2018.  
 



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

10 

Advertising 

 

We use advertising to promote our programs amongst the audience we serve, and expense all costs as incurred. 
For the year ended December 31, 2018 advertising costs totaled $62,582. 
 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

 

The costs of program and supporting services activities have been summarized on a functional basis in the 
statement of activities. The statement of functional expenses presents the natural classification detail of expenses 
by function. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services 
benefited. The financial statements report certain categories of expense that are attributable to more than one 
program or supporting function. Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently 
applied. The expenses that are allocated include building maintenance, depreciation, interest, and insurance that 
are allocated on a square-footage basis, as well as salaries and wages, benefits and taxes, office costs and 
information technology that are allocated on the basis of estimates of time and effort.  
 
Income Taxes and Tax Status 

 
AHI, AHSI, and the Foundation are organized as Colorado nonprofit corporations and have been recognized by 
the IRS as exempt from federal income taxes under IRC Section 501(a) as organizations described in IRC Section 
501(c)(3), qualify for the charitable contribution deduction, and have been determined not to be private 
foundations. Each entity is annually required to file a Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax (Form 
990) with the IRS. In addition, the entities are subject to income tax on net income that is derived from business 
activities that are unrelated to their exempt purpose. We have determined that each entity is not subject to 
unrelated business income tax and have not filed an Exempt Organization Business Income Tax Return (Form 
990-T) with the IRS.   
 
East, West, and South are pass-through entities for federal and state income tax purposes. Income (loss) of East, 
West, and South is allocated 1% to the general partner (AHI) and 99% to the limited partner (AHSI).  
 
Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires us to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates, and those differences could be material. 
 
Financial Instrument and Credit Risk 

 

Deposit concentration risk is managed by placing cash, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit with 
financial institutions believed to be creditworthy. At times, amounts on deposit may exceed insured limits or 
include uninsured investments in money market mutual funds. To date, no losses have been experienced in any of 
these accounts. Credit risk associated with accounts receivable and promises to give is considered to be limited 
due to high historical collection rates and because substantial portions of the outstanding amounts are due from 
governmental agencies and foundations supportive of our mission. Investments are made by diversified 
investment managers whose performance is monitored by our Board of Directors. Although the fair values of 
investments are subject to fluctuation on a year-to-year basis, our Board believes that the investment policies and 
guidelines are prudent for our long-term welfare.  
 



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

11 

East, West, and South receive subsidized tenant rents from HUD in connection with a Section 8 contract. For the 
year ended December 31, 2018, this supplement represented 79.4%, 75.0%, 83.0%, respectively, of total revenue 
of each project. 
 
Subsequent Events 

 
We have evaluated subsequent events through April _____, 2019, the date the consolidated financial statements 
were available to be issued. 
 
 

Note 2 -  Liquidity and Availability 
 
Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting their use, 
within one year of the statement of financial position date, comprise the following: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,642,026$      
Accounts receivable 26,066             
Promises to give 42,800             
Investment portfolio 3,037,666        

8,748,558$      

 
Cash and cash equivalents include donor restricted funds of $138,870 which are expected to be spent in the 
normal course of operations in the next 12 months.  
 
The beneficial interest in assets held by RCF does not have an expenditure policy in place.  
 
The board-designated funds have not been included within the above table as they are not intended to be used for 
general expenditures. 
 
 

Note 3 -  Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures 
 
Certain assets are reported at fair value in the financial statements. Fair value is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset in an orderly transaction in the principal, or most advantageous, market at the measurement date 
under current market conditions regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. Inputs used to determine fair value refer broadly to the assumptions that market participants 
would use in pricing the asset, including assumptions about risk. Inputs may be observable or unobservable. 
Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset based 
on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs are inputs that 
reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the 
asset based on the best information available.  
 
A three-tier hierarchy categorizes the inputs as follows: 
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that we can access at the measurement 
date. 



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

12 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly 
or indirectly. These include quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar 
assets in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset, and market 
corroborated inputs. 

 
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset. In these situations, we develop inputs using the best information 
available in the circumstances. 
 
In some cases, the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset might be categorized within different levels of 
the fair value hierarchy. In those cases, the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level 
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. Assessing the 
significance of a particular input to entire measurement requires judgment, taking into account factors specific to 
the asset. The categorization of an asset within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the asset 
and does not necessarily correspond to our assessment of the quality, risk or liquidity profile of the asset. 
 
The majority of investment assets are classified within Level 1 because they comprise open-end mutual funds 
with readily determinable fair values based on daily redemption values. The fair value of beneficial interest in 
assets held by RCF is based on the fair value of fund investments as reported by RCF and this is considered to be 
a Level 3 measurement. 
 
The following table presents assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis, except those measured at cost as 
identified below, at December 31, 2018: 
 

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foundation investment portfolio:

Cash (at cost) 98,240$           -$                     -$                     -$                     
Mutual funds:
  Global equity 1,253,807        1,253,807        -                       -                       

Domestic equity 1,551,311        1,551,311        -                       -                       
Domestic fixed equity 1,024,106        1,024,106        -                       -                       
Global real estate 339,494           339,494           -                       -                       
Hedge fund strategies 697,672           697,672           -                       -                       

 4,964,630        4,866,390        -                       -                       

Investment portfolio:
Cash (at cost) 48,211             -                       -                       -                       
Certificates of deposit 1,402,864        -                       -                       -                       
Mutual funds:

Domestic fixed income 1,586,591        1,586,591        -                       -                       

 3,037,666        1,586,591        -                       -                       

Total investment portfolio 8,002,296$      6,452,981$      -$                     -$                     

Beneficial interest in assets held by
Rose Community Foundation 76,866$           -$                     -$                     76,866$           

Fair Value Measurement at Report Date Using

 



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

13 

Below is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of beneficial interest in assets held by Rose 
Community Foundation measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs for the year ended 
December 31, 2018: 
 

Beginning balance 87,210$           
Investment loss, net (6,174)              
Distributions (4,170)              

Ending balance 76,866$           

 
 

Note 4 -  Promises to Give 
 
Unconditional promises to give are estimated to be collected as follows as of December 31, 2018: 
 

Within one year 42,800$           
In one to five years 37,600             

80,400$           

 
Promises to give estimated to be collected after one year have not been reduced to present value as we have 
determined the reduction to be minimal. 
 
 

Note 5 -  Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment consists of the following as of December 31, 2018: 
 

Land 422,361$         
Buildings and improvements 21,578,895      
Equipment, furniture, and furnishings 2,932,137        
Construction in progress 581,261           

25,514,654      
Less accumulated depreciation (15,525,505)     

9,989,149$      

 
East has entered into a contract in the amount of $301,299 for the modernization of an elevator and, as of 
December 31, 2018, has incurred $143,117 under the contract, which is included in construction in progress. 
South has entered into a contract in the amount of $175,000 for the purchase and installation of an air-cooled 
chiller and, as of December 31, 2018, has incurred $137,740 under the contract, which is included in construction 
in progress.



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

14 

Note 6 -  Note Payable 

 
Note payable consists of the following at December 31, 2018: 
 

4% construction note payable to a financial institution, due in monthly 
payments of interest only through February 2020, followed by
monthly payments of principal and interest through February 2030 9,000,000$      

Unamortized debt issuance costs, based on an effective rate at 4.12% (136,903)          

 8,863,097$      

 
During 2018 East and South jointly entered into a $17,000,000 construction loan agreement with a financial 
institution. The loan is allocated 60% to East and 40% to South. As of December 31, 2018, $9,000,000 has been 
drawn down on the construction note payable. The East and South have used its portion of the loan proceeds to 
pay off previous mortgages with another financial institution with the remainder of the funds being invested. East 
and South have until March 2020 to draw the remainder of the loan proceeds. Any proceeds not advanced by this 
date will be advanced and placed in a lender-controlled account. Management expects to draw down the 
remaining loan proceeds by March 2020, which will be used for improvements. 
 
The loan is secured by a deed of trust, assignment of leases and rents, security agreement and fixture filing of East 
and South and on the property of East and South.  
 
The mortgage agreement contains certain covenants related to, among other matters, the maintenance of debt 
service coverage ratios. 
 
Future maturities of long-term debt, assuming that the entire balance of the loan proceeds will be drawn upon, are 
as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2019 -$                     
2020 246,807           
2021 306,958           
2022 319,640           
2023 332,847           
Thereafter 15,930,651      

17,136,903      
Unamortized debt issuance costs (136,903)          

17,000,000$    

 
 

Note 7 -  Board-Designated Funds 
 
Our classification of net assets without donor restrictions include certain funds that have been designated for 
property improvements by the Board of Directors.  



Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2018 

 
 

15 

Changes in board-designated net assets were as follows during the year ended December 31, 2018: 
 

Board-designated funds, beginning of year 5,386,976$         
Investment loss, net (428,493)             

Board-designated funds, end of year 4,958,483$         

 
 

Note 8 -  Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions consist of the following at December 31, 2018: 
 

2018
Subject to expenditure for specified purpose:

Health and wellness programs 80,500$           
Kavod in the City 58,370             
Other 6,147               

145,017           
Not subject to spending policy or appropriation:

Beneficial interest in assets held by Rose Community Foundation 
on behalf of Allied Jewish Apartments Foundation 76,866             

221,883$         

 
 

Note 9 -  Vulnerability Due to Revenue Concentration 

 
We operate in a heavily regulated environment subject to the administrative directives, rules and regulations of 
federal regulatory agencies, including, but not limited to, HUD. Such administrative directives, rules and 
regulations are subject to change by an act of Congress or an administrative change mandated by HUD. Such 
changes may occur with little notice or inadequate funding to pay the related cost, including the administrative 
burden, to comply with a change.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2018, housing assistance payments from HUD were $2,559,393 received by 
East, $1,628,719 received by West and $1,639,497 received by South for a total of $5,827,609 reported as tenant 
assistance payments on the statement of activities. 
 
 

Note 10 -  Retirement Benefits 
 
AHI participates in a defined contribution pension plan and a 403(b) thrift plan for the benefit of its employees. 
The plans cover all employees over 21 years of age who have worked at least 1,000 hours during the year and 
have been employed for at least one year. The employee’s benefits will fully vest after the employee enters the 
plan. Contributions made for the pension plan for the year ended December 31, 2018, totaled $83,622, based on a 
defined contribution of 3% of covered employees’ compensation. Contributions made for the 403(b) thrift plan 
for the year ended December 31, 2018 totaled $69,577, based on a matching contribution of 100% of employees’ 
contributions up to a maximum of 4% of covered employees’ compensation. 



 

 

Supplementary Information 
December 31, 2018 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates 
d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
 



 

16 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Supplementary Information 

 
 
The Board of Directors 
Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates 
d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Denver, Colorado 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod 
Senior Life as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 and our report thereon, dated April __, 2019, 
expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. Our audit was conducted for 
the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The 
following supplementary information for the year ended December 31, 2018 is presented for the purpose 
of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information 
is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the 
consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly 
stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.  
 
 
 
 
Denver, Colorado 
April __, 2019 



 

 17 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Consolidating Schedule of Financial Position 

December 31, 2018  

 
Allied Housing

East, LLLP/ Allied Jewish
West, LLLP/ Allied Allied Housing Apartments Consolidating 
South, LLLP Housing, Inc.  South, Inc. Foundation Eliminations Totals

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,188,137$      460,036$      -$                 -$                 -$                 5,648,173$    
Accounts receivable 26,066             -                    -                   -                   -                   26,066           
Promises to give -                       80,400          80,400           
Investment portfolio 2,249,248        788,418        4,964,630    -                   8,002,296      
Tenant security deposits 150,957           -                    -                   -                   -                   150,957         
Prepaid expenses and other assets 232,523           43,680          -                   -                   -                   276,203         
Due from related party -                       511,918        -                   -                   (511,918)      -                     
Investments in limited partnerships 78,592          7,780,697    (7,859,289)   -                     
Beneficial interest in assets held by

Rose Community Foundation -                       -                    -                   76,866         -                   76,866           
Property and equipment, net 9,982,018        7,131            -                   -                   9,989,149      

Total assets 17,828,949$    1,970,175$   7,780,697$  5,041,496$  (8,371,207)$ 24,250,110$  

Liabilities
Accounts payable 228,095$         2,177$          -$                 -$                 -$                 230,272$       
Accrued expenses 224,001           455               -                   -                   -                   224,456         
Tenant security deposits payable 142,549           -                    -                   -                   -                   142,549         
Due to related party 511,918           -                    -                   -                   (511,918)      -                     
Note payable, net of debt issuance costs 8,863,097        -                    -                   -                   -                   8,863,097      

Total liabilities 9,969,660        2,632            -                   -                   (511,918)      9,460,374      

Net assets
Without donor restrictions

Discretionary -                       1,742,950     -                   -                   -                   1,742,950      
Board designated for improvements -                       -                    -                   4,958,483    -                   4,958,483      
Partner's equity 6,740,368        6,740,368      
Invested in property and equipment, net

of related debt 1,118,921        7,131            -                   -                   -                   1,126,052      
Invested in limited partnerships -                       78,592          7,780,697    -                   (7,859,289)   -                     

Total net assets without donor restrictions 7,859,289        1,828,673     7,780,697    4,958,483    (7,859,289)   14,567,853    
With donor restrictions -                       138,870        -                   83,013         -                   221,883         

Total net assets 7,859,289        1,967,543     7,780,697    5,041,496    (7,859,289)   14,789,736    

Total liabilities and net assets 17,828,949$    1,970,175$   7,780,697$  5,041,496$  (8,371,207)$ 24,250,110$  

 
 



 

 18 

Allied Housing, Inc. and Affiliates d/b/a Kavod Senior Life 
Consolidating Schedule of Activities 

Year Ended December 31, 2018  

 
 

Allied Housing
East, LLLP/ Allied Allied Jewish
West, LLLP/ Allied Housing  Apartments Consolidating 
South, LLLP Housing, Inc. South, Inc. Foundation Eliminations Totals

Support and revenue
Net tenant rent revenue 1,540,974$      -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     1,540,974$      
Tenant assistance payments 5,827,609        -                       -                       -                       -                       5,827,609        
Food service revenue 1,031,930        -                       -                       -                       -                       1,031,930        
Assisted living services 992,665           -                       -                       -                       -                       992,665           
Other elderly care income -                       24,493             -                       -                       -                       24,493             
Contributions -                       478,763           -                       -                       -                       478,763           
Investment loss, net 30,322             50                    -                       (432,663)          -                       (402,291)          
Other income 59,141             28,285             -                       -                       -                       87,426             
Distributions from and change 

in value of beneficial
interest in assets held by RCF -                       -                       -                       (6,174)              -                       (6,174)              

Management fee revenue -                       238,200           -                       -                       (238,200)          -                       
Income from partnerships -                       8,579               849,280           -                       (857,859)          -                       

Total revenues 9,482,641        778,370           849,280           (438,837)          (1,096,059)       9,575,395        

Expenses
Program service 7,509,876        142,013           -                       -                       -                       7,651,889        
Management and general 1,055,059        451,010           -                       -                       (238,200)          1,267,869        
Fundraising 59,849             132,820           -                       -                       -                       192,669           

Total expenses 8,624,784        725,843           -                       -                       (238,200)          9,112,427        

Change in Net Assets 857,857           52,527             849,280           (438,837)          (857,859)          462,968           

Net assets, Beginning of Year 7,001,432        1,915,018        6,931,417        5,480,333        (7,001,432)       14,326,768      

Net Assets, End of Year 7,859,289$      1,967,545$      7,780,697$      5,041,496$      (7,859,291)$     14,789,736$    

 

















































 
 
 
 

 
 
From: Max Reiner <max_reiner@marxokubo.com>  
Sent: Thursday, April 25, 2019 11:27 AM 
To: Mike Belieu <mbelieu@kavodseniorlife.org> 
Subject: KSL: Design and Scope Remaining 
 
Please find the breakout for estimated remaining design services you asked about below: 
 

Scope Item Responsible Design Party Design Cost 

Fire Sprinkler Design Frontier Fire via Pinkard 100,000 

Fire Alarm Design Frontier Fire via Pinkard 25,000 

Preconstruction Services Pinkard 70,000 

Pinkard Subtotal:   $195,000 

Back of House MEP Systems 
 Shul Classroom 
 Health & Wellness 
 Other 

Marx|Okubo 30,000 

Tub/shower swaps Marx|Okubo Included in M|O number 
above 

HVAC unit swap in Residential 
Units 

Marx|Okubo Included in M|O number 
above 

HVAC swaps in east/south 
corridors 

Marx|Okubo Included in M|O number 
above 

Other M|O Scope  Marx|Okubo Included in M|O number 
above 

MEP consultant project closeout 
and Fire System 

MEP Eng.  via Marx|Okubo $30,000 
 

Marx|Okubo Subtotal:   60,000 

Asbestos Plan and Variance Wade Anderson Consulting $3000 

 
HCM Bistro & Laundry/Office 
remodel 

HCM $49,000 

City of Denver Permit / Plan 
review costs. 

Kavod Senior Life via Pinkard $25,000 
 

Other Subtotal:   $77,000 

   

Total Remaining Design & Permit Estimate: $332,000 
 
 
This work will be billed against the remaining budget under  
The project scope generally includes the following:  

 Back of House MEP systems for all three buildings 
o Shul Classroom 
o Health and Wellness 
o Others 

mailto:max_reiner@marxokubo.com
mailto:mbelieu@kavodseniorlife.org


 Tub/Shower swaps  (mostly for drawings in case we are able to complete some based on 
contingency use) 

 Bistro 

 Laundry/Office remodel 

 Fire Sprinkler and modified alarm and notification, including voice, for west building 
(Frontier to be engaged by Pinkard as part of design build package) 

o Includes Fire Pump and Building to house the pump on the exterior 
o Includes electrical connections from pump to main distribution 
o Includes electrical connections from pump to generator 

 Fire Sprinkler and alarm and notification for east and south (Frontier to be engaged by 
Pinkard as part of design build package) 

 Swapping HVAC units in the south residential units 

 Swapping HVAC units in the east/south hallways 

 Asbestos plan design and variance request (WEC/Orion to be engaged directly by KSL; 
coordinated by M|O and PCC) 

 Other items as discussed and listed in the budget summary. 
 
Furthermore, this is to confirm our understanding that construction will not move forward until all 
permits (ie. Architectural, Fire, and Asbestos) are received which is anticipated for Mid November based 
on the duration for Fire design and permitting. 
 
 
Max Reiner, NCARB, AIA, LEED AP 
Senior Associate 



2 
 

Kavod Senior Life 

Fiscal Committee Meeting Minutes 

April 16, 2019 Onsite 

 

Members Present:  Rob Friedman, Brian Botnick, Max Heyman, Perry Moss and Connell 

Saltzman 

Staff: Michael Klein, Mike Belieu, Heather Colliander, Olga Roush 

Eide Bailly-Zach Jastram, Aaron Ness, Peggy Jennings 

Connell called the Committee meeting to order at 8 a.m. He mentioned that the minutes 

and the February Financial Statements would follow the presentation by Eide Bailly. 

 

Eide Bailly started their presentation of the 2018 HUD audits.  Aaron Ness, the partner on 

the engagement, explained the process of the audit and the initial fieldwork done.  Eide 

Bailly came out in December of 2018 and did field testing for compliance and Section 8 

vouchers, which is required by HUD, and went very well.  He noted there were no issues 

with the Section 8 vouchers.  Aaron talked about the audit in general and how for a first 

year audit the process went very smooth. He did advise the Committee about one finding 

on Allied Housing South concerning a construction invoice coded to the wrong year; this 

invoice was received significantly after year-end.  Zach also discussed various procedures 

completed during the audit.  

 

Aaron mentioned that Kavod staff were organized and provided all the necessary 

information in reasonable time and stated that most first-year audits do not go as 

smoothly.  He thanked Kavod staff for their hard work.  Aaron went on to talk more 

specifically about the individual audits of each building which are held in separate 

partnerships and their surplus cash. He also talked about the different audit components 

and that Section 8 audits are less complex versus audits with HUD loans.   

 

The group discussed the management company, a separate legal entity that is wholly 

owned by AHI  (Kavod Property Management) and how HUD sometimes requires a 

separate entity and under what circumstances a separate management company  is  

necessary.  The Committee asked about the process setting up the management company 

and questioned Eide Bailly about their review of the new entity requirement.  Aaron 

mentioned he did review the documents Mike completed that had been requested by HUD 



3 
 

in prior years and said Allied Housing Inc. operating as the management company is 

acceptable.  

 

Rob asked if there were any other compliance issues with the audit.  Eide Bailly staff 

advised there were no other compliance issues.  The HUD entities are receiving  clean audit 

opinions.  The audits and related compliance reports were filed with HUD on a timely basis.   

 

Peggy Jennings gave an update on the consolidated audit.  She said they have completed 

the consolidated audit and it is in quality control review, which is required for a first year 

audit.  She indicated Kavod staff will have the statements this week. She also mentioned 

Kavod staff did a good job coordinating the audit this year.  Peggy did mentioned there was 

one finding dealing with grant revenue recognition. 

Connell ask staff to wait in the lobby so the Fiscal Committee could talk directly with Eide 

Bailly.   Subsequent to this discussion Perry Moss left the meeting. 

Upon return of staff, the Committee and staff discussed releasing funds from the Refi Loan 

proceeds for preparing drawings to obtain permits from the City of Denver.  The permits 

would cover architecture for the Bistro, laundry and office remodel in the West building; 

asbestos abatement; and fire suppression.  The Committee was in general agreement to 

recommend the release of such funds; however, no construction was to occur until all or 

substantially all the permits were received.  There continues to be discussion with Denver 

Fire Department about the extent of fire suppression to be completed.  Brian also 

questioned whether it was necessary to expend funds to fully sprinkler the South building; 

at present the South building does have a single sprinkler per apartment unit.  The 

Committee will continue to be updated by staff on the fire suppression issue and will 

further discuss recommending to the Board that expenditure of funds to obtain drawings 

necessary to obtain permits. 

 

The next regular Fiscal Committee meeting will be held on May 21, 2019 Via Zoom 

conference call.  Meeting was adjourned at 9:20am.  

 

 

Kavod Senior Life 

Fiscal Committee Meeting Minutes 



4 
 

April 24, 2019 via Zoom 

 

Members Present:  Rob Friedman via Zoom, Brian Botnick via Zoom, Max Heyman via 

Zoom, Perry Moss via written proxy and Connell Saltzman on site at Kavod 

Staff:  Mike Belieu on site at Kavod 

Eide Bailly- Peggy Jennings on site at Kavod 

A special Fiscal Committee meeting was held on April 24tht to approve the 2018 

consolidated audit and request  approval of  construction design work in order to get to the 

permit stage. 

Peggy from Eide Bailly presented the consolidated audit, which staff previously sent to the 

Committee, and the AU 260, AU 265 letters that are required correspondence for the Fiscal 

Committee and management. She talked about how smooth the first year engagement 

went and complemented Kavod staff on how well they did during the audit. Peggy 

discussed the two findings regarding proper revenue recognition for grants. She 

commented that Eide Bailly would work with Kavod staff on additional nonprofit 

accounting training during 2019.  Peggy then went over the numbers in the consolidated 

audit noting that the audit has a clean opinion.  The 2018 audit contains only one year of 

results due to the change in accounting standards regarding presentation of financial 

statements; next year will be a comparative audit.  She went over the consolidating balance 

sheet on page 17 and Consolidating Schedule of Activities on page 18 as well as the effect 

of the new debt with MidFirst Bank on the balance sheet.  The consolidating  Schedules of 

Financial Position (Balance Sheet) and Activities show all of the Kavod entities that are 

being consolidated,   There was discussion on the wording for Note 7 regarding assets held 

by the Foundation which the Committee and Peggy agreed would be more clear if stated 

that the assets were of the Foundation and Board designated.  Peggy also reviewed the 

Consolidated Schedules of Financial Position (Balance Sheet) and Activities (Income 

Statement), especially the change in presentation of Net Assets. 

Connell moved to accept the 2019 consolidated audit with amended wording to Note 7 and 

recommendation to the Board that the audited financials be accepted as amended.  The 

motion was seconded by Rob.  The motion passed unanimously.  The Committee thanked 

Eide Baily for its work this past year.  Peggy will attend and present the audit to the Board 

at the April 29th Board meeting.   

 



5 
 

The second topic was the approval to move forward with design work to get the project to 

the point Kavod could apply for building permits for the refi work.  Mike had previously 

sent out a detailed outline of all the design work that needs to be done before permits can 

be obtained to start the work.  This outline included design work for all projects budgeted 

to be completed with refi money.  The group had discussion on scope, cost and what 

information the Board needs to see for the  Board to be comfortable moving forward.  

 

Mike will get cost estimates for the design work broken out by responsible entity to 

complete the work plus what this design work is as a percentage of overall costs.  The 

information that goes to the Board will have design information and costs from Kavod, 

Marx Okubo, HCM, and Pinkard.  

     

Connell moved that staff should move forward with the design work if the costs come in at 

a reasonable amount. The motion was seconded by Brian.  The group unanimously 

approved he motion.  

 

The was adjourned at 8:40 am. 

 



Kavod Senior Life 

Resident and Community Services Committee 

April 4 in Shul Classroom at 11:45 

 

Present: Deanie Andersen, Ondalee Kline, Jay Mactas, Jamie Sarche, Sarah Golombek, Kerry Hildreth, 

Mollie Zwerdlinger. Staff: Tracy Kapaun, Jennifer Grant, Christie Ziegler, Connie Moore, Susan 

Schoenthal, Grace Trautman, Rabbi Stephen Booth-Nadav, Dre Dufford and Michael Klein.  Guest: 

Meredith Brunk from Legacy Healthcare Services 

Kerry Hildreth welcomed everyone to the meeting. Previous minutes were reviewed and a motion was 

made by Deanie and seconded by Ondalee to accept them. Motion passed. 

Connie, Susan and Grace updated the committee on the upcoming intergenerational music and art 

program they will be doing.  They have received training and are in the active stage of recruiting youth 

to participate.  The program is geared for residents with early stage dementia. There is funding for three 

years. 

Christie updated our progress with the DHA (Kavod in the City) program.  We have successfully 

completed a year one grant and received a second year grant from Next 50 Initiative. We will be doing 

36 programs together at the three sites.  The classes will focus in three clusters around fitness/wellness, 

mental health and strengthening community.  The programs have been very well received and we have 

achieved the metrics we had developed. 

Meredith gave an overview of what Legacy Healthcare Services has been providing at Kavod for over 

seven years. They provide occupational, physical and speech therapy and have staff that speak English 

and Russian. They provide therapy both in the clinic space and in resident’s apartments. They accept 

most insurances and serve over 45 residents monthly. Michael thanked them for being a partner and for 

adding so many educational programs and supporting our resident programs. 

Rabbi Steve shared the variety of Jewish and other religious services offered. He reported on Seth Ward 

leading Shabbat and holiday services, Rabbi Birdie Becker offering monthly Friday evening music 

programs and him doing Taste of Shabbat twice a month on Friday evenings.  Reverend Dale heads the 

non-denominational Christian Mustard Seed Community and we now have two Bible studies led by 

community ministers. Rabbi Steve leads a memorial service when residents pass away with families, 

residents and staff all participating. There are a number of classes he leads and he also visits residents 

when they are in the hospital. He is also leading a six part movie series that focuses on the African 

American experience. 

Dre Dufford discussed the Garden Program we have at Kavod.  We have 45 residents who have their 

own garden plots.  We have a diverse group of gardeners who plant vegetables, flowers and herbs. We 

partner with Hazon, Ekar Farms and Denver Urban Gardens. Bonnie Brae Ice Cream donates ice cream 

for our fundraiser. Several of the flower beds were deepened this year to allow better growing for 

vegetables. 



Uros shared how we have upgraded our smart apartments. We have seven that allow mobility impaired 

residents to turn on/off lights, open/close their front door, control their thermostats and lower /rise 

their blinds all from a tablet. Residents appreciate how much easier it is to be in their apartments.  We 

are now looking to connect his technology to voice control. 

Ondalee gave a resident update. She is no longer on the resident council board.  The board is made up 

of 4 members and they now will meet every three months.  The next meeting is June. She shared 

information about the resident free loan program, food bank and Robin’s Nest program (which gives 

small stipends to residents who have extreme emergency needs). 

Meeting adjourned at 1:00. 

 

 



AHSI Board Meeting 

April 15, 2019 at 3:00 p.m. 

Balfour Senior Life 

 

Present:  Michael Cohen, Deanie Andersen, Steve Siegel, and Billie Bramhall.  Staff: Mike Belieu 

 

Michael Cohen called the meeting to order and asked if there were any corrections to the previous 

minutes. As there were none, the minutes were approved. 

Mike apologized to the group that Michael Klein could not be in attendance at the meeting. Michael 

Cohen asked Mike Belieu to give his report. Mike reviewed the most recent LLP audits which had been 

provided in advance to the members.  The Allied Housing South audit did have one finding regarding 

accounts payable and classification of the invoice in the correct year.  The committee asked a few 

questions which Mike responded to.   

The group then read through the memo Michael Klein prepared in advance. This memo talked about the 

refi projects, new grants that Kavod has been awarded, programing and board updates.  Mike asked if 

there were any questions on the memo.  The group did not have any questions at that time.  Steve 

suggested that Kavod keep a large amount of money set aside for contingency due to the asbestos work 

in the West building 

Mike reviewed the strategic plan summary that was included in the package and went over some of the 

key areas Kavod will be focusing on. This summary gives a brief summary of the plan methodology, 

Kavod’s mission, values, and vision for the future along with new strategic goals. 

Michael Cohen asked if there was a request for any money to be granted to the Kavod Senior Life Board. 

Mike replied that no grants were being requested at this time. 

Michael Cohen asked if there was any additional items to cover and as there were none, he thanked 

everyone for coming and adjourned the meeting. 

 

 


	April 29, 2019 Board Agenda
	2.2019Board Minutes
	Allied Housing - 2018 fincls for Board meeting
	March Meeting 2019
	April Meeting 2019
	April Refi Tracking
	RCSAPRIL2019
	April 15 2019 Minutes-Kavod Senior Housing and Services Board

